General Terms and Conditions for the Use of the All-in-One Sustainability Reporting and Green Controlling Software Envoria

General Terms and Conditions for paid contracts with Financial Software Architects GmbH (hereinafter referred to as "FISA" or "Provider")

Financial Software Architects GmbH, Rosa-Bavarese-Straße 3, 80639 Munich, Germany, Local Court Munich, HRB 238979, Phone: +49 89 9974 0901-0, Email: info@FISA.io, Website: www.FISA.io

The following terms and conditions apply exclusively to entrepreneurs (hereinafter referred to as "Contractual Party") within the meaning of § 14 of the German Civil Code (BGB). Private persons cannot register for the use of the contract software.

Contents

1.	General provisions	2
2.	Services	2
3.	Remuneration	3
4.	Scope of use	3
5.	Availability	4
6.	Obligations of the Contractual Party	4
7.	Use in breach of contract, compensation for damages	4
8.	Incident management	4
9.	Task processing according to GDPR	6
10.	Point of contact	7
11.	Contract term and termination	7
12.	Completion and acceptance	7
13.	Performance protection	8
14.	Cooperation and obligations to cooperate	8
15.	Confidentiality	8
16.	Final provisions	g

1. General provisions

- 1. FISA developed the modular software Envoria for collaborative collection, calculation, processing, and preparation of requirements related to ESG company data (hereinafter referred to as "software"). The modules are "ESG Reporting", "EU Taxonomy", "Emission Management", and "Supply Chain". A description of the general functions of the software and of the individual modules in particular can be found in the product-related provisions.
- 2. The software protected by copyright in favor of the Provider is a web-based business software for the creation of reports in the above-mentioned subject areas.
- 3. The General Terms and Conditions, hereinafter "GTC", shall become applicable contractual documents upon acceptance of an offer by FISA by signature or by simple acceptance in text form or in writing with reference to the offer.
- 4. FISA reserves the right to adapt and update the GTC. Future deliveries and services shall be made on the basis of the respective valid GTC. The respective valid version can be viewed at: https://envoria.com/gtc
- 5. Adjustments and updates of the GTC shall be factually justified and communicated to the Contractual Party in writing. The period for consent or objection by the Contractual Party shall be three months from notification of the adjustment.
- 6. Agreements deviating from the GTC shall be recorded in writing and shall take precedence over the GTC.
- Changes in the contractually agreed scope of services require the consent of the Contractual Party by simple acceptance in text form or in writing with reference to the adjustment notice.

2. Services

- 1. The Provider shall make the software available to the Contractual Party as a license (SaaS or Software as a Service) to the extent summarized in writing in the offer.
- 2. The Provider shall guarantee that all services are free of third-party (industrial property) rights and, in particular, that patents, licenses, or other (industrial property) rights of third parties are not infringed by the delivery and use of the delivery items. The Provider shall indemnify the Contractual Party against all claims of third parties arising from infringements of property rights.
- 3. The place of service provision (cloud services) shall be exclusively within the European Union. The Contractual Party and the service recipients shall not incur any additional costs or risks, either directly or indirectly, because of a change in the place of performance at the Provider's instigation. Should additional costs nevertheless arise, the Provider shall reimburse the Contractual Party or the service recipients for such proven additional costs.
- 4. A relocation of a place of performance to a country that is not a member state of the European Union or the European Economic Area is excluded unless explicitly agreed otherwise.
- 5. The Provider shall be bound by the offer for the period stated on the offer.
- 6. The offer includes a spatially and temporally unrestricted simple right to use the software for as long as the contractual relationship exists.
- 7. Adjustments of the scope are possible monthly after the written offer and acceptance. The time of implementation is coordinated between the Provider and the Contractual Party.
- 8. The Provider shall provide access to the software in its area of disposal from the interface of the data center to the internet.
- 9. The scope of services, nature, intended use, and conditions of use of the software and

- services are set out in the description in the product-related provisions.
- 10. The Provider shall continuously develop updated software versions, hereinafter referred to as "updates".
- 11. Updates shall be made available to the Contractual Party free of charge.
- 12. Information about updates and corresponding instructions for use shall be transmitted by the Provider electronically.
- 13. FISA may offer the Contractual Party optional additional services to support the implementation. These include, for example, user training on the use of the software as well as technical workshops on the contents of the above-mentioned subject areas.
- 14. Unless otherwise agreed, the terms and conditions set forth under section 3 Remuneration shall apply to additional services.
- 15. Services that go beyond the service description in the agreed offer and GTC require separate consent.

3. Remuneration

- 1. The Contractual Party shall remunerate the provision of the software, including updates in accordance with the license fee stipulated in the offer.
- 2. The license fee is due from the day of signature.
- 3. Remunerations are, in principle, net prices plus legally applicable value-added tax. In the case of cross-border transactions, the service recipient is liable for the tax (reverse charge procedure).
- 4. All invoices are payable upon receipt free paying agent without deduction, unless otherwise agreed.
- 5. Additional services beyond the service description will be invoiced according to the agreed rates after approval by the Contractual Party.
- 6. Travel expenses shall be invoiced in the amount of the costs incurred after individual approval by the Contractual Party. Invoicing shall take place at the beginning of the following month. Half of the travel time shall be counted as working time.
- 7. The Provider may increase the remuneration at the earliest 12 months after the conclusion of the contract if the expenses increase, e.g., due to rising wage costs. Further increases can occur at the earliest 12 months after the last effective date. An increase shall become effective three months after the announcement.
- 8. Agreed statements of expenditure shall be deemed to have been approved unless the Contractual Party objects in detail in writing within 21 days of receipt and the Provider has referred to the fact of approval in the statement of expenditure.

4. Scope of use

- The services defined in section 2 may only be used by the Contractual Party and its subsidiaries. During the term of the contract, the Contractual Party may access the software via telecommunications (via the Internet) and use the functionalities associated with the software in accordance with the contract by means of a browser or another suitable application.
- 2. The Contractual Party shall not receive any further rights, particularly to the software or any infrastructure services provided in the respective data center. Any further use requires the Provider's prior written consent.
- 3. In particular, the Contractual Party may not use the software beyond the agreed scope of use, have it used by third parties, or make it accessible to third parties (with the exception of subsidiaries). The Contractual Party is also not permitted to duplicate, sell, temporarily transfer, rent, or lend the software or parts thereof.

- 4. The Provider is entitled to take appropriate technical measures to protect against non-contractual use. As a result, the contractual use of the services may not be more than insignificantly impaired.
- 5. In the event that the scope of use is exceeded by a user of the Contractual Party in violation of the contract or in the event of an unauthorized transfer of use by the Contractual Party, the Contractual Party shall, upon request, immediately disclose to the Provider all information available to it for asserting claims due to the use in violation of the contract, in particular the name and address of the unauthorized user.
- 6. The Provider may revoke the access authorization of the Contractual Party and/or terminate the contract if the Contractual Party violates regulations for protection against unauthorized use. In connection with this, the Provider is entitled to interrupt or block access to the contractual services.
- 7. The Provider shall grant the Contractual Party a reasonable period of grace to remedy the situation. The sole revocation of the access authorization shall not be deemed to be a termination of the contract at the same time. The Provider may only maintain the revocation of the access authorization without termination for a reasonable period of time, a maximum of 6 weeks.
- 8. The Provider's claim to remuneration for use exceeding the agreed use remains unaffected.
- 9. The Contractual Party shall be entitled to have access authorization and access possibility restored after it has proven that it has discontinued the use in violation of the contract and has prevented future use in violation of the contract.

5. Availability

- 1. The services provided must be available with an availability of 99.8%. Excluded from this are disruptions for which the Provider is not responsible and announced or explicitly agreed maintenance and updates.
- 2. In the event of an only insignificant reduction in the suitability of the services for use in accordance with the contract, the Contractual Party's claim due to defects shall be limited to subsequent performance, including incident management in accordance with section 8 and to reduction. The strict liability of the Provider due to defects that were already present at the time of the conclusion of the contract is excluded.
- If the service is not available for more than 24 hours, the Provider is obliged to deliver the
 data and documents required by the Contractual Party via an encrypted connection in a
 suitable file format (Excel, CSV, PDF).

6. Obligations of the Contractual Party

- 1. The Contractual Party shall protect the access authorizations and identification and authentication information assigned to it or to the users from third-party access. The disclosure to unauthorized persons is prohibited.
- 2. The Contractual Party is obligated to indemnify the Provider from all claims of third parties due to legal violations that are based on an illegal use of the software by the Contractual Party or occur with its approval. If the Contractual Party recognizes that such an infringement is imminent, there is an obligation to inform the Provider immediately.
- 3. The Contractual Party has the option, not the obligation, to use optional offers made available by the Provider to additionally secure its data in an original area of responsibility of the Provider.

7. Use in breach of contract, compensation for damages

- For each case in which a contractual service within the area of responsibility of the Contractual Party is used without authorization, the Contractual Party shall, in each case, pay damages in the amount of the remuneration that would have been incurred for the contractual use within the framework of the minimum contractual period applicable for this service.
- 2. The Contractual Party reserves the right to prove that the Contractual Party is not responsible for the unauthorized use or that there is no damage or significantly less damage. The Provider remains entitled to claim further damages.

8. Incident management

- 1. The Provider shall receive incident reports from the Contractual Party, assign them to the agreed incident categories (section 8.4), and, on the basis of this assignment, carry out the measures in accordance with this section to analyze and rectify incidents.
- The Provider shall accept proper incident reports from the Contractual Party during its normal business hours and shall assign an identifier to each one. Upon request of the Contractual Party, the Provider shall confirm to the Contractual Party the receipt of an incident report by informing the Contractual Party of the assigned identification.
- 3. The usual business hours of the Provider are working days (Monday to Saturday) from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Central European Standard Time (CET/ UTC+1) or Central European Summer Time (CEST/ UTC+2), with the exception of public holidays of the Federal Republic of Germany.
- 4. Unless otherwise agreed, the Provider shall assign received incident reports to one of the following categories after first reviewing them:
 - a. Serious incident

The malfunction is based on a defect in the contractual services that makes the use of the software impossible or allows it only with severe restrictions. The Contractual Party cannot reasonably circumvent this problem and, therefore cannot complete tasks that cannot be postponed.

b. Other incident

The disruption is based on a defect in the contractual services that restricts the use of the software by the Contractual Party more than just insignificantly, without a serious disruption being present.

c. Other notifications

Incident notifications that do not fall into categories a) and b) are assigned to other notifications. Other notifications are handled by the Provider according to agreement.

5. Service and response times within operating hours are as follows:

INCIDENT CATEGORIES RECEIPT OF THE

HOURS ON WORKING DAYS AFTER

MESSAGE FOR THE PROCESSING OF

THE PROBLEM

SERIOUS INCIDENT	8 hours (working days)
OTHER INCIDENT	16 hours (working days)
OTHER NOTIFICATION	24 hours (working days)

Procedure in case of malfunctions

In the event of reports of serious disruptions and other malfunctions, the Provider shall

initiate measures with response times within 8 hours to 16 hours (working day) based on the circumstances communicated by the Contractual Party. The Provider will

- a. Locate the cause of the malfunction.
- b. Immediately initiate all measures reasonable to it for further analysis and correction of the notified malfunction.
- c. In the case of third-party software immediately transmit the malfunction report together with analysis results to the distributor or manufacturer of the third-party software with the request for remedial action.
- d. Immediately inform the Contractual Party if, after initial analysis, the notified malfunction does not appear to be a fault in the contractual services, particularly in the software provided.
- e. Inform the Contractual Party without delay about available measures to circumvent or correct the error in the software as well as about the expected duration of their implementation. This shall include instructions to the Contractual Party on how to implement corrections to the software configuration.
- f. The Contractual Party shall immediately adopt such measures to circumvent or clean up faults and immediately re-notify the Provider of any remaining faults when they are implemented.

In any case, a malfunction, regardless of its severity, must be corrected within a reasonable period.

- 7. If an incident for which the Provider is not responsible, including strike or lockout, impairs the performance of services or adherence to deadlines ("disruption"), the deadlines shall be postponed by the duration of the disruption, if necessary, including a reasonable restart phase.
- 8. The contractual parties agree to inform each other as soon as possible of the cause and expected duration of any disruption occurring in the respective area.

9. Task processing according to GDPR

- 1. The following paragraphs shall apply in accordance with Art. 28 (3) d) of the GDPR to all activities in which employees of the Provider or subcontractors commissioned by it (subcontractors) process personal data of the Contractual Party.
- 2. The terms used shall be understood in accordance with their definition in the General Data Protection Regulation (pursuant to Art. 4 GDPR). In this sense, the Contractual Party in the following section is the "responsible party", the Provider is the "processor".
- 3. The subject and category of processing are contractual relationships of the responsible party with third parties. This may include contact data, address data and indirect identifiers.
- 4. The processing serves the purpose of the collection and storage of data mentioned under point 1.
- 5. Any disclosure or transmission of the data shall be made exclusively to the responsible party. The processor may only provide information to third parties or the data subject with prior consent of the responsible party. Any inquiries addressed directly to him shall be forwarded to the responsible party without delay.
- 6. The data security measures taken by the Processor in accordance with Article 28 (3) c) of the GDPR are presented in an individually agreed DPA.
- 7. The processor shall notify the responsible party of any data breaches without undue delay. Reasonable suspicions thereof shall also be notified. The notification shall be made at the latest within 24 hours of the processor becoming aware of the relevant event to an address designated by the responsible party. It must contain at least the following information:

- a. A description of the nature of the data breach, including, to the extent possible, the categories and approximate number of individuals affected, the categories affected, and the approximate number of personal data records affected;
- b. The name and contact details of the data protection officer or other point of contact for further information;
- c. A description of the likely consequences of the data breach;
- d. A description of the measures taken or proposed by the processor to address the data breach and, where applicable, measures to mitigate its possible adverse effects.
- 8. The processor undertakes to maintain strict confidentiality during processing. Persons who may obtain knowledge of the data processed under the order shall undertake in writing to maintain confidentiality unless they are already subject to a relevant confidentiality obligation by law.
- 9. The data is stored exclusively on the territory of the Federal Republic of Germany and in ISO 27001-certified data centers. The connection between the servers and clients is encrypted without exception (e.g., SSL / HTTPS).
- 10. The duration of the processing corresponds to the duration of the contractual relationship (according to section 11).
- 11. No special data according to Art. 9 §1 GDPR are stored. Special data includes information on ethnic origin, political opinions, and health data.
- 12. The processor shall only correct, delete, or block data processed within the scope of the tasks in accordance with the contractual agreement reached or in accordance with the instructions of the responsible party. The processor shall comply with the relevant instructions of the responsible party at any time and also beyond the termination of this agreement.
- 13. The processor warrants that the persons employed by it for processing have been familiarized with the relevant provisions of data protection and this agreement prior to the start of processing. Corresponding training and awareness-raising measures shall be repeated on an appropriate regular basis. The processor shall ensure that persons deployed for the commissioned processing are appropriately instructed and monitored regarding compliance with the data protection requirements on an ongoing basis.

10. Point of contact

- 1. The Provider shall set up a point of contact for the Contractual Party (telephone and e-mail). This office shall process the Contractual Party's inquiries in connection with the technical requirements for use of the software provided as well as regarding the scope of use, availability, malfunctions, and other functional aspects.
- 2. It is a prerequisite for the acceptance and processing of inquiries that the Contractual Party designates to the Provider personnel with the appropriate professional and technical qualifications who are assigned internally at the Contractual Party to process inquiries from users of the software provided.
- 3. The Contractual Party is obliged to address inquiries to the point of contact only through these personnel designated to the Provider and to use forms made available by the Provider for this purpose.
- 4. The Contractual Party may update the designated personnel at any time. The point of contact will accept e-mail and telephone inquiries during the Provider's normal business hours. The point of contact will process proper inquiries in the normal course of business and respond directly to the extent possible.
- 5. The point of contact may refer to documentation, information titles, and other educational resources available to the Contractual Party for the software provided.
- 6. Insofar as a response by the point of contact is not possible or not possible in a timely

manner, the Provider may – insofar as this is expressly agreed – forward the request to subcontractors for processing, in particular requests for software not produced by the Provider.

7. Further services of the point of contact, such as other response times and deadlines, as well as on-call services or on-site assignments of the Provider at the Contractual Party's premises, shall be expressly agreed upon in advance and shall be subject to the terms and conditions set forth under section 3. Remuneration, if applicable.

11. Contract term and termination

- The term of the contract is twelve months from the agreed start of the cooperation. The
 contract may be terminated by either contractual party with four weeks' notice to the end
 of the contract term. During this term, premature ordinary termination on the part of the
 Provider is excluded.
- 2. If no ordinary notice of termination is given, the cooperation shall be extended by a further twelve months. The right of each contractual party to extraordinary termination for good cause shall remain unaffected.
- 3. Any notice of termination must be in writing in order to be effective.
- 4. The Contractual Party shall export and back up its data files on its own responsibility in due time before the termination of the contract. Master data, transaction data and file export functions (for file attachments) shall be provided by the Provider for this purpose. Upon request, the Provider shall support the Contractual Party.
- 5. An access possibility of the Contractual Party to these data files shall be ensured for further 6 months after termination of the contract. The order processing (according to DSGVO) will be continued until then.

12. Completion and acceptance

- 1. Completion, acceptance, and further dates will be agreed upon separately by the contractual parties.
- 2. At the time of acceptance, the Contractual Party shall check whether all the functions included in the service description are present.
- 3. In the event of defects, the Contractual Party shall be entitled to refuse acceptance and to request that the defects listed in the acceptance protocol be remedied.
- 4. If all defects are not remedied within a reasonable period of time in case of doubt, four weeks the contractual parties shall agree on a mutually acceptable solution. If this does not succeed within two weeks from the start of negotiations, the Contractual Party is entitled to withdraw from the contract.
- 5. We reserve the right to involve qualified partner companies in the implementation of software projects. Partner companies used are carefully selected and work in close coordination with the customer to ensure smooth integration and successful project implementation.

The partner company is selected in close consultation with the customer.

13. Performance protection

 The contractual parties may only offset or withhold payments due to defects to the extent that it is actually entitled to payment claims due to material defects or defects in the title of the performance. Due to other claims for defects, the Contractual Party may only retain

- payments to a proportionate extent considering the defect. The Contractual Party shall have no right of retention if its claim for defects is time-barred. Apart from that, the Contractual Party may only offset or exercise a right of retention against undisputed or legally established claims.
- 2. The Provider shall be entitled to prohibit the Contractual Party from further use of the software and services for the duration of any default in payment by the Contractual Party. The Provider may only assert this right after the expiry of a reasonable period of time (at least 14 days) for payment and only for a reasonable period of time, as a rule, for a maximum of three months. This does not constitute a withdrawal from the contract. § Section 449 (2) of the German Civil Code shall remain unaffected.
- 3. If the Contractual Party or its customers return the services, the acceptance of the services shall not constitute a withdrawal by the Provider unless the Provider has expressly declared the withdrawal.
- 4. In case of permanent economic inability of the Contractual Party to fulfill its obligations towards the Provider, the Provider may terminate existing exchange contracts with the Contractual Party by rescission, continuing obligations by termination without notice, and also in case of an insolvency application of the Contractual Party. § 321 BGB and § 112 InsO remain unaffected. The Contractual Party shall inform the Provider in writing at an early stage of any impending insolvency.
- 5. Fixed performance dates shall be agreed upon exclusively and expressly in documented form. The agreement of a fixed performance date shall be subject to the proviso that the Provider receives the services of its respective upstream suppliers in due time and in accordance with the contract.

14. Cooperation and obligations to cooperate

- The Contractual Party shall support the Provider in the examination and assertion of claims against third parties in connection with the provision of services at its own discretion upon request. This applies in particular to recourse claims of the Provider against upstream suppliers.
- The contractual parties are aware that electronic and unencrypted communication (e.g., by email) is fraught with security risks. In this type of communication, they will therefore not assert any claims based on the lack of encryption, unless encryption has been previously agreed.

15. Confidentiality

- 1. The contractual parties undertake to keep confidential all information, perceptions and documents belonging to the business secrecy of the contractual parties (confidential information) of which it obtains knowledge in the course of its activities.
- 2. In particular, the following shall be deemed to be confidential:
 - a. Information that is marked as confidential.
 - b. Information which, even without confidentiality marking
 - relates to the technical organization and technical equipment of the contractual parties, their financial and current data, pricing, product development, etc.
 - Personnel data, as well as all types of business relations of the contractual parties with third parties, as well as concerning current or former business partners.
 - c. Information that is identifiable as confidential without specific expertise.
- 3. In case of doubt as to whether information is confidential, the contractual parties shall

- have a mutual obligation to consult each other.
- 4. The contractual parties shall also impose these obligations on their employees and any third parties engaged.
- 5. Disclosure of confidential information to third parties shall not be permitted, subject to legal/ supervisory duties of surrender or prior written approval by the contractual parties.
- 6. The obligation to maintain confidentiality shall continue to exist to the previous extent after termination of the activity for the contractual parties.

16. Final provisions

- All agreements that involve an amendment, supplement, or concretization of these GTC, as well as special assurances, guarantees and arrangements, must be set down in writing. Guarantees shall only qualify as warranties in the legal sense if they are expressly designated as warranties.
- If declarations, supplements, concretizations, assurances and/or guarantees are declared by representatives of FISA, they shall only be binding if FISA gives its written consent thereto.
- 3. In the event of contradictions between these GTCs and the offer, the offer shall take precedence.
- 4. Terms and conditions that conflict with or deviate from these GTCs and which do not originate from the Provider shall not be recognized unless there is an express written agreement to this effect with the Provider. These GTCs shall also apply if the Provider performs services without reservation in the knowledge of terms and conditions of the customer that conflict with or deviate from these terms and conditions.
- 5. The contractual parties agree with regard to all legal relations resulting from this contractual relationship that the law of the Federal Republic of Germany shall apply to the exclusion of the UN Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods.
- 6. The exclusive place of jurisdiction for all legal disputes arising from and in connection with this contract shall be Munich.
- 7. Should any provision of these GTCs be or become invalid, this shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. The Provider is entitled, within the bounds of reasonableness and in good faith, to replace invalid provisions by adapting and updating the GTC, provided that this does not result in a significant change.
- 8. By signing the contract and agreeing to these GTC, the Provider receives the right to integrate the company name and the company logo of the Contractual Party as a reference in written and electronic documents as well as to publish it within the scope of external communication measures (e.g., website, presentations, videos, or social media). The consent may be revoked by the Contractual Party at any time.